
AGENDA

POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND REVIEW COMMITTEE 
MEETING
Date: Wednesday, 16 January 2019
Time: 7.00pm
Venue: Council Chamber, Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT

Membership:

Councillors Mike Baldock, Cameron Beart, Monique Bonney, Andy Booth (Chairman), 
Tina Booth, Lloyd Bowen, Nicholas Hampshire, James Hunt (Vice-Chairman), Nigel Kay, 
Roger Truelove and Ted Wilcox.

Quorum = 3 

Pages
1. Fire Evacuation Procedure

The Chairman will advise the meeting of the evacuation procedures to 
follow in the event of an emergency. This is particularly important for 
visitors and members of the public who will be unfamiliar with the building 
and procedures. 

The Chairman will inform the meeting whether there is a planned 
evacuation drill due to take place, what the alarm sounds like (i.e. ringing 
bells), where the closest emergency exit route is, and where the second 
closest emergency exit route is, in the event that the closest exit or route 
is blocked. 

The Chairman will inform the meeting that: 

(a) in the event of the alarm sounding, everybody must leave the building 
via the nearest safe available exit and gather at the Assembly points at 
the far side of the Car Park; and 

(b) the lifts must not be used in the event of an evacuation. 

Any officers present at the meeting will aid with the evacuation. 

It is important that the Chairman is informed of any person attending who 
is disabled or unable to use the stairs, so that suitable arrangements may 
be made in the event of an emergency. 

2. Apologies for Absence and Confirmation of Substitutes

Public Document Pack



3. Minutes

To approve the Minutes of the Meeting held on 27 November 2018 
(Minute Nos. 353  - 358) as a correct record.

4. Declarations of Interest

Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 
other material benefits for themselves or their spouse, civil partner or 
person with whom they are living with as a spouse or civil partner.  They 
must declare and resolve any interests and relationships.

The Chairman will ask Members if they have any interests to declare in 
respect of items on this agenda, under the following headings:

(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) under the Localism Act 
2011.  The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be 
declared.  After declaring a DPI, the Member must leave the meeting and 
not take part in the discussion or vote.  This applies even if there is 
provision for public speaking.

(b) Disclosable Non Pecuniary (DNPI) under the Code of Conduct 
adopted by the Council in May 2012.  The nature as well as the existence 
of any such interest must be declared.  After declaring a DNPI interest, 
the Member may stay, speak and vote on the matter.

(c) Where it is possible that a fair-minded and informed observer, 
having considered the facts would conclude that there was a real 
possibility that the Member might be predetermined or biased the 
Member should declare their predetermination or bias and then leave the 
room while that item is considered.

Advice to Members:  If any Councillor has any doubt about the 
existence or nature of any DPI or DNPI which he/she may have in any 
item on this agenda, he/she should seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer, the Head of Legal or from other Solicitors in Legal Services as 
early as possible, and in advance of the Meeting.

Part B reports for the Committee to consider

5. Homelessness Strategy

The Committee is asked to consider the Homelessness Strategy.

The Cabinet Member for Housing and Safer Communities, Head of 
Housing, Economy and Community Services, and the Housing Options 
Manager have been invited to attend for this item. 

6. Public Space CCTV

The Committee is asked to consider the public space CCTV report.

The Cabinet Member for Housing and Safer Communities, Head of 



Housing, Economy and Community Services and the Safer and Stronger 
Communities Officer have been invited to attend for this item.

Business Item

7. Committee Work Programme

The Committee is asked to note the Committee’s Work Programme 
(attached) for the year.

Issued on Monday, 7 January 2019

The reports included in this agenda can be made available in 
alternative formats. For further information about this service, or to 
arrange for special facilities to be provided at the meeting, please 
contact DEMOCRATIC SERVICES on 01795 417330. To find out 
more about this Committee please visit www.swale.gov.uk

Chief Executive, Swale Borough Council,
Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT



This page is intentionally left blank



Policy Development and Review Committee 

Development of Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2019 – 
2023

Introduction

This report provides an overview to PDRC on the work currently underway to 
develop the Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy for Swale for 
2019-2023, it sets out some of the key challenges that Swale is facing and the 
recommended objectives and priorities for the Strategy.

Background

The Council have commissioned HQN consultancy to carry out an independent 
Homelessness Review and develop a Housing, Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
Strategy ensuring that Swale embrace the requirements of the Housing Reduction 
Act (HRA).   Their work has led to a detailed assessment of the housing situation in 
Swale and details the national issues that we also need to respond to.

Summary of national issues to respond to:

 Reduce homelessness and meet requirements of new legislation (HRA).

 Housing growth – to meet the needs of current and future population. 
Encourage diversity in the market including through encouraging SMEs and 
considering modern methods of construction that speed up delivery of 
housing. Greater diversity in the housing offer including through self-build, 
Starter Homes and other initiatives (subject to need) such as increased 
investment in the private rented sector.

 Improve conditions in the private rented sector.

 Ongoing welfare reforms as they impact on housing.

 Role of housing in prevention – helping vulnerable people to live 
independently and reducing costs on acute health and social care services.

 Reduce rough sleeping. 

Issues effecting Swale

 Failure of the local market to meet the housing needs of local people;
 Disparity between house prices and incomes;
 The cost of the private rented sector compared to Local Housing Allowance 

rates;
 The availability of services to support people in sustaining their tenancies;
 The general lack of affordable housing;
 Properties not meeting the decent home standard, 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Emerging Objectives and Priorities

The following Objectives have been identified:

1. Preventing and reducing homelessness and rough sleeping.
2. Reducing numbers in temporary accommodation.
3. Delivering new housing in Swale.
4. Improving conditions in existing homes so residents can live longer and safer 

in their homes.

The following priorities have been identified:

1. Promote early intervention and a more customer focused homeless 
prevention service.

2. Further develop strategic partnerships to address homelessness and rough 
sleeping in the borough.

3. Ensure support is available for vulnerable households.
4. Reduce the number of households in temporary accommodation; in particular 

by removing the use of Bed and Breakfast and reviewing the allocations 
Policy.

5. Plan for objectively assessed housing needs in Swale.
6. Work in partnership to deliver housing growth including affordable housing, 

supported housing, rural housing and regeneration initiatives.
7. Improve private sector housing conditions and management practices 

including helping older, disabled and vulnerable people to live in safe adapted 
homes through a range of initiatives.

8. Working with Landlords, Housing Associations and private owners to increase 
the number of households that meet the decent home standard, especially in 
Sheerness where the need is greatest.

Questions to consider

1. Do the findings reflect your experience of housing in Swale?
2. Are there any gaps, and if so what?
3. Do you support the Council’s emerging Objectives and Priorities?

Next Steps

 The feedback from the Stakeholder event held (15/1) and feedback from 
PDRC will be utilised to shape the final Strategy before formal consultation 
and adoption of the Strategy in the summer.

Page 2



Swale Public Space CCTV Strategy – PDRC Update 

Wednesday 16th January 2019

Overview

Following an input by the Cllr Horton and the Community Safety Unit on the 6th November 
2018 at PDRC, a Public Space CCTV Strategy has begun to be compiled, based upon the 
reasoning provided to the group previously. 

This strategy thus far gives an overview of the history of public space CCTV; legislative 
requirements; the Swale Picture; performance; and the findings from the CCTV review. 

The draft strategy also puts forward a vision and purpose for the public space CCTV service 
looking to the future. 

Next Steps

Following the discussion with PDRC, it is proposed that consultation will take place with 
partners and the public as required, before returning to PDRC for final consideration. A final 
version of the strategy would then be taken to Cabinet for recommendation. A tactical 
delivery plan would be drawn up and approved through appropriate mechanisms following 
this. 

Recommendation: That PDRC endorse the vision and purpose contained within the 
Public Space CCTV Strategy. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 6



Swale Borough Council Public Space CCTV Strategy

1. Forward 

To be completed

2. Introduction and purpose of the Strategy 

This is the first Public Space CCTV Strategy for Swale Borough Council, although a public 
space CCTV service has been in operation for two decades. There is a requirement to 
drastically change the way in which the service operates in order to meet both the current 
and future service needs. 

3. Swale CCTV – The Story so far

CCTV History 

Public Space CCTV was installed in Swale in 1994/1995, following the receipt of funding 
from the Home Office to ‘prevent and detect crime and anti-social behaviour (ASB)’. This 
was part of a wider, national, roll out of CCTV in public spaces for crime prevention purposes 
as technology had advanced to enable more than one camera to be monitored/record at 
once, in colour. Cameras were remotely monitored to detect and prevent crime, with their 
footage being used by the Police as evidence in criminal proceedings. 

Funding was also provided over the following years by Parish Councils and other groups of 
private individuals and businesses to install systems to meet their needs, monitored by the 
Council as part of the wider public space CCTV service. This led to a large completely 
random system, covering various parts of the borough – both town centres and residential 
areas. 

The CCTV Control Room has been linked closely through radio systems to Kent Police and 
the local Business Crime Reduction Partnership, Swale Safe. This increased the detection of 
incidents from both the Police and local retailers, whilst enabling the sharing of information.

During the period within which public space CCTV has been operated by councils, there has 
been a large increase in the technology available to the public – with a large number of 
residential properties and businesses hosting their own CCTV system; along with almost 
every member of the community owning their own mobile device with increasingly 
sophisticated recording capabilities. This has increased the amount of evidence available to 
Police forces for their investigations, along with all officers being equipped with Body Worn 
Cameras.  

This increase in private systems has in part led to some Councils switching off their public 
space CCTV. With many councils facing increasing funding pressures and limited national 
research to fully justify its effectiveness some have moved to no system or reduced 
monitoring hours/recording only. 

CCTV technology has continued to advance since the Swale system was originally installed. 
Technology will now allow for a fully digitised system, with better recorded images and the 
increasing use of analytics (such as facial recognition), working towards more automated 
systems with limited to no operators.  

Page 4



Legal Requirements

There is no Statutory Duty for Swale Borough Council to deliver CCTV. However Section 17 
of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 places an obligation on local authorities to consider the 
crime, disorder and environmental issues affecting the local area and ensure their activities 
do all they reasonably can to prevent them. The implementation and monitoring of CCTV is 
one activity delivered by Swale Borough Council that contributes towards this obligation. 

Increases in public space surveillance nationally, along with wider technological advances, 
led to pressure groups campaigning to protect civil liberties, privacy and freedom. Their 
campaigns and general concern from communities, in part led to the introduction of the 
Surveillance Code of Practice in 2013.  

The purpose of the code was to ensure that individuals and wider communities have 
confidence that surveillance cameras are deployed to protect and support them, rather than 
spy on them. The code introduced 12 principles that resulted in changes to the way that 
public space CCTV services operated. 

These principles specify that all CCTV must be in pursuit of a legitimate aim and necessary; 
and that the impact of individual’s privacy has been considered. There also strengthened the 
requirements for security of information recorded and the development of processes. 
Specifically for Swale, this resulted in careful consideration of all CCTV deployments.   

There are a number of other legal frameworks that must be considered in the delivery of 
CCTV services including: 

- Data Protection Act 2018
- General Data Protection Regulations 
- Regulation of Investigatory Powers (RIPA) 2000
- Protection of Freedoms Act 2012

Current Swale Picture

The Swale Public Space CCTV Service was moved to Medway Council in 2010, to increase 
its effectiveness following failures with the private contract in place for its monitoring from the 
Swale House Control Room. This new Partnership was based on a clear business case to 
provide a more cost effective service from its control room in Strood. 

In 2012, this Partnership was widened to include Maidstone and Gravesham Councils. In 
2015, Medway Council sub contracted its responsibilities for this Partnership to Medway 
Commercial Group (MCG), which is still responsible currently for the monitoring of Swale’s 
49 CCTV Cameras, 24/7/365. 

The current public space CCTV service also encompasses delivery of the out of hours 
emergency planning and housing responses for the Authority. 

As a direct result of the introduction of the Surveillance Camera Code of Practice, SBC 
reviewed its CCTV Camera locations to ensure that it complied with the requirement that all 
locations were justified. This resulted in 16 cameras being decommissioned in 2015 and 
following a subsequent review in 2018, a further 16 were decommissioned. This process will 
be completed on a regular basis to ensure this ongoing compliance.  

The Partnership Agreement has been extended until March 2020 by SBCs Cabinet, to allow 
time for the completion and implementation of this CCTV Strategy. 

Page 5



Maidstone Borough Council are also conducting a review of their monitoring and 
maintenance options. This follows a review of their camera deployments which resulted in a 
drastic reduction of their camera numbers which are now only focused upon their town 
centre. Maidstone BC have given notice of their intention to with from the Partnership, with 
the timescales for this and resultant implications for partners being explored. 

Current Performance 

Between October 2017 and the end of September 2018, there were 516 incidents detected 
and then logged by CCTV Operators – this equates to just under 1.5 incidents per day. This 
is also a large reduction compared with the same period the previous year (a reduction of 
49%). 

Apri
l

May
Ju

ne Ju
ly

Aug
us

t

Sep
tem

be
r

Octo
be

r

Nov
em

be
r

Dec
em

be
r

Ja
nu

ary

Feb
rua

ry
Marc

h
0

50

100

150

200

250

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

CCTV Operator Incidents Logged

The CCTV system is also utilised, largely by Kent Police, for the retrospective reviews of 
incidents that have occurred and where an incident has been detected, is provided as 
evidence. Between October 2017 and the end September 2018, there were 370 footage 
reviews completed, of which 94% were for the Police – an average of just over 1 per working 
day. Of these reviews, 133 were then downloaded to be used as evidence in an investigation 
and 17% of those discs were not collected and therefore destroyed. 

Number of footage 
reviews

Number of footage 
downloads

Number of discs 
destroyed

0

100

200

300

400

Swale CCTV Footage Reviews/Downloads 
(October 17 - September 18)

The reduction in incidents detected/logged by CCTV operators may in part be due to a 
number of different factors: 

- Police resourcing has changed over the last decade – from the introduction of 
neighbourhood policing at the start of the decade to a recent focus on vulnerability 

Page 6



and threat, risk and harm.  This along with drastic reductions in funding has resulted 
in reducing focus on town centres and ‘acquisitive type crimes; 

- The model by which CCTV is monitored has changed, even from when it was 
transferred to Medway and the Partnership established in 2012, with the formation of 
Medway Commercial Group; 

- Technology has advanced at a great rate, with almost every individual now carrying a 
Smart Phone acting as a hand held camera and the Police introducing Body Worn 
Cameras that provide evidence as needed.  

These reasons, along with wider influential factors such as longer term town centre decline, 
may have impacted upon the performance of the current CCTV service. It is clear that its 
purpose and technology needs to also change with the times. 

Findings from CCTV Review 

A review of the CCTV Service began in 2017 to inform decision making regarding monitoring 
options. The scope of this review was widened in 2018 to include the equipment and 
transmission options. Key findings were: 

- Public perception of the service differs to the reality – there is limited understanding 
of the legal requirements that the system must comply with; the total costs; and its 
effectiveness; 

- The CCTV system is an aged and outdated analogue system, with many cameras 
and equipment having reached or nearing the end of their life, with parts becoming 
harder to source; 

- There is difficulty in evidencing that the quality of recorded footage is of evidential 
standard in low lighting areas or when a recording has been retrospectively 
interrogated i.e. zooming required as part of investigation on a recording;  

- The data from the cameras is fed back to a control room through BT Fibre Lines 
which are expensive and inflexible; 

- The operating model currently used means the operator does not always necessarily 
have the local knowledge of the borough to detect incidents; 

- Lack of ability to prove the deterrent effect of a public CCTV system. 

4. Vision and Purpose

Vision: To migrate to a fit for purpose, second generation public space CCTV system, using 
modern digital equipment that is compatible with future upgrades and technology 
advancement. 

The purpose of this second generation Pubic Space CCTV service would be to: 

- Help to Prevent and Detect Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour; 
- Provide quality evidence to support Police investigations and prosecutions; 
- Support most vulnerable members of the community; 
- Support management of emergencies or major incidents, along with ongoing out of 

hours assistance; 
- Assist in town centre and event management;
- Deliver Town Centre Wi-Fi in Sittingbourne, Sheerness and Faversham that will 

enable community messaging; better access to the Councils website;  access to 
electronic cash cards; and better access to online payment for car parking   

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 7

Policy Development and Review Committee - Policies, plans and strategies due for review in 2018/19 

Policies, plans and 
strategies

Service unit Due date for 
publication of 
new/revised policy, 
plan or strategy

Policy 
Development and 
Review 
Committee dates

Commentary

Homelessness 
Strategy

Housing, Economy and 
Community Services

June 2019 16 January 2019 Consultant appointed.  
Project set for 6-8 
months, therefore likely 
delivery June 2019

Public space CCTV Housing, Economy and 
Community Services

April 2019 16 January 2019 Initial briefing and 
presentation to PDRC 
on 6 November 2018.  

Sheerness Vision 
(regeneration 
strategy)

Housing, Economy and 
Community Services

TBA TBA First draft anticipated to 
Cabinet February/March 
2019

Community Asset 
Transfer Policy

Property Services TBA TBA

Access Strategy Policy, Communications 
and Customer Services

TBA TBA

Activity expected in 2019/20 Municipal Year 

Housing Allocations 
Policy

Housing, economy and 
Community Services

TBA TBA Work on this will 
commence early in the 
2019/20 municipal year

Swale Heritage 
Strategy

Planning Services Autumn 2019 TBA Covers areas wider than 
just Planning Policy.  
PDRC to consider non-
planning aspects prior to 
Local Plan Committee

Indoor Sports Facility 
Strategy

Housing, Economy and 
Community Services

TBA TBA

Policy Development and Review Committee dates 2018/19: 

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 7



 16 January 2019; and
 12 February 2019.  

Policy Development and Review Committee dates (provisional) 2019/20:  

 19 June 2019; 
 17 July 2019; 
 11 September 2019; 
 16 October 2019; 
 20 November 2019; 
 29 January 2020; and
 4 March 2020

P
age 10


	Agenda
	5 Homelessness Strategy
	6 Public Space CCTV
	7 Committee Work Programme

